I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner George Hancock, the appellant below, asks the Court to

review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in

Section II below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

George Hancock seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished

opinion entered on June 28, 2016. A copy of the opinion is attached

Appendix A). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: Instructions must make the relevant legal standards

manifestly clear to the average juror. Did the court' s instructions
fail to make manifestly clear the state' s burden to show a risk of
recidivism exceeding 50%? 

ISSUE 2: Evidence is not admissible if it is irrelevant or if its

probative value is outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. Did
the court err by admitting a diagram that was not proportionate to
available data and which suggested that Mr. Hancock is far more

likely to reoffend than predicted by his actuarial score? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After the state filed a petition to indefinitely commit George Hancock, 
he cooperated openly and honestly with the state' s expert. 



After serving a 14 -year prison sentence, George Hancock found

himself facing indefinite commitment to the Special Commitment Center. 

CP 3, 91. He cooperated with an evaluation performed by Dr. Richard

Packard, participating fully in two rounds of psychological testing and

more than six hours of interviews. CP 15, 56. 

Dr. Packard described him as open and non -defensive, and said he

had been " maturing and doing better." RP 1012. Mr. Hancock also

submitted to a video deposition at the state' s request. CP 344- 574. 

Mr. Hancock participated in another evaluation performed by Dr. 

Christopher Fisher. CP 715; RP 1081. Dr. Fisher found that Mr. Hancock, 

despite mental health problems, is no longer predisposed to offend. RP

1089, 1101- 1103, 1110, 1118. 

As a result, Dr. Fisher did not believe that Mr. Hancock had a

mental abnormality." RP 1119. Dr. Fisher also said that Mr. Hancock' s

antisocial personality disorder had diminished with age and maturity, and

concluded that it was insufficient to justify commitment. RP 1110- 1116. 

Dr. Fisher also assessed Mr. Hancock' s risk of reoffending. At

trial he explained to the jury that he understood the word " likely" to mean

greater than 50%. RP 1089, 1119. He opined that Mr. Hancock had

changed since his last offense ( in 1999), and was not likely to reoffend. 

RP 1095, 1101- 1104, 1110, 1118, 1119, 1129, 1135- 1137. 
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2. Mr. Hancock moved to exclude the state' s " bullseye" exhibit because

it was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. 

Prior to trial, defense counsel asked the court to exclude Exhibit

44. RP 30- 31. The exhibit shows a series of concentric circles, purporting

to compare the number of sex offenses actually committed to the number

resulting in arrest, charge, and conviction.' Ex. 44. The exhibit looked

like this: 

Ex. 44 ( See Appendix B for full-sized image). 

Another circle purportedly represents the number of sex offenses reported. Ex. 44. The
number reported is apparently not taken into account by the Static 99R or other instruments
relied upon by the experts. 
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The radius of Exhibit 44' s outer circle (" All Sex Offenses

Committed") is approximately eight times the radius of the inner circle

Convicted"). Ex. 44. E
The inner circle— " Convicted"— Is bright red. 

Ex. 44. 

The exhibit is not limited to predatory acts of sexual violence. Ex. 

44. Instead, it compares the numbers for "All Sex Offenses," including

those committed by family members. Ex. 44. 

Dr. Packard did not prepare the exhibit, and did not disclose who

had prepared it. RP 783. He could not provide the numbers underlying

the size of any of the circles, including those at the center of the bullseye. 

RP 783- 785. 3

Dr. Packard testified that the outer circle, representing " All Sex

Offenses Committed" was not based on any number " in the research." RP

783; Ex. 44. He went on to describe it as " an unknown number," and

acknowledged it was not based on " information that could be available

through governmental sources and the like." RP 785- 786.4 When asked if

2 A comparison of the arca of the outer and inner circles makes it seem that only one out of
every 64 sex offenses results in conviction. Ex. 44. Nothing in the record supports this
suggestion. 

s Although he knew where to find the data for the inner circles, he could not relate it to the

court. RP 784- 785. 

4 He later said that the outer circle was an estimate based on crime victim' s surveys, and said

that such estimates " have their limitations." RP 784. He reiterated this, and noted that one

limitation was the survey' s failure to include children under age 12. RP 786. He did not
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the exhibit were " proportionate to the data," he told the court that " it' s

pretty much impossible to give a proportionate number." RP 790. 

Based on this, the court admitted the exhibit for illustrative

purposes. RP 790. 

Dr. Packard relied on Ex. 44 during his testimony to suggest that

the Static 99R and other actuarial measures underreport Mr. Hancock' s

risk of re -offense. RP 882- 884. He did not imply at any time that

predatory acts of sexual violence are underreported. Nor did he attempt to

relate any aspect of Exhibit 44 to predatory acts of sexual violence. RP

690- 1030, 1362- 1409. 

In closing, the prosecutor also relied on Ex. 44. RP 1451. She

described Mr. Hancock as " a perfect example that the vast majority of sex

offenses go unreported and that these [ actuarial estimates] are

underestimates." RP 1451. She finished her discussion of the exhibit by

saying that " Mr. Hancock has hit that bull' s- eye over and over and over

again through the course of his history." RP 1452. 

3. Mr. Hancock acknowledged his offense history and told jurors
about his release plan. 

describe the survey methodology or indicate that any effort had been made to verify survey
responses. RP 783- 790. 
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Mr. Hancock testified, and told jurors that he had been raped by his

grandfather when he was only seven years old. RP 1344. His own

offending grew out of that incident. RP 1344. He admitted that he could

not remember all the children he' d abused, starting from when he was 8

and ending in 1988 when he was 23. RP 1345. He committed his only

subsequent offense in 1999.' RP 1345- 1346. 

He told the jury he planned to live on his mother' s property, and

that he' d be wearing an ankle bracelet during his three years of

supervision. RP 1355- 1356. He testified that his family knew he shouldn' t

be around children, and had agreed to keep children from the residence. 

RP 1351. 

His mother and sister confirmed that he would be living with them, 

that they were aware of his offense history (although he' d spared them

specific details), and that they would not have any children visit the home. 

RP 1031- 1055. 

3. The court refused to instruct on the Supreme Court' s 50% standard, 

and prohibited Dr. Fisher from explaining the legal standard to the
jury. 

5O the witness stand, Mr. Hancock admitted for the first time that he' d molested the victim

of his 1999 conviction. RP 677- 685. He explained that he' d consistently refused to admit
guilt because he' d been charged with (and later convicted of) rape instead ofmolestation; he

thought that if he admitted to molestation, everyone would believe he' d committed rape. RP

683- 684. 
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Mr. Hancock proposed a single jury instruction, asking that jurors

be instructed on the state' s burden to prove a greater than 50% risk of re - 

offense: 

The term more likely than not as used in these instructions means
that the probability of respondent' s reoffending exceeds 50
percent. 

CP 743. 

His attorney argued that the instruction was necessary because

jurors would be prejudiced against Mr. Hancock from the outset and

would have too much " room for them to wiggle in their minds about what

likely' or `more likely' means." RP 34. He expressed concern about " the

emotional nature of the case" and asked that the court instruct jurors on

the 50% standard as a " reasonable step... to avoid a finding that any level

of risk is sufficient enough of a probability for commitment." CP 163. 

Counsel went on to argue that the standard " should be more

precisely stated along the lines that the Supreme Court said." RP 34. He

hoped to stop jurors " from making a bad call, essentially... [ T] here is a

real possibility that any sense of risk is going to cause a negative finding

by this jury." RP 35. 

In its response, the state argued that the " more probably than not" 

standard does not necessarily equate to a risk level greater than 50%. CP

575- 576. 
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The court refused to give the instruction. RP 32- 35. The judge

reasoned that courts have " utilized the ` more probably true than not' 

standard for centuries without definition in terms of percentage." RP 34. 

At the AAG' s request, the court prohibited the defense expert from

explaining that the law required a risk greater than 50%. 6 RP 35- 38; CP

101- 102, 576. 

Dr. Fisher discussed the 50% standard during his testimony. RP

1089, 1119. In keeping with the court' s limitation, he did not suggest that

the law required a risk level greater than 50%; instead, he told jurors that

he took the word " likely" to mean greater than 50%. RP 1119. Dr. 

Packard did not discuss the 50% standard. RP 690- 1030, 1362- 1409. 

In closing, neither party mentioned the 50% standard to the jury. 

RP 1422- 1517. 

4. The jury found for the state, and the court entered an order committing
Mr. Hancock indefinitely. 

The jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Hancock a sexually violent

predator. CP 1099. The court entered an order committing him to the

Special Commitment Center, and Mr. Hancock timely appealed. CP 1100, 

1107. 

6 However, the court did allow counsel to try and convince jurors to use the 50% standard. 

RP 35- 38. 
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The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Hancock' s commitment. 

Opinion. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the court

should have instructed jurors on the state' s burden to prove that

Mr. Hancock' s recidivism risk exceeds 50%. This issue is of

substantial public interest and should be determined by the
Supreme Court. RAP 13. 4 ( b)( 4). 

Dr. Fisher testified that Mr. Hancock' s risk of recidivism fell

below 50%. RP 1089, 1119, 1129, 1139. But Dr. Packard testified that

Mr. Hancock' s lifetime risk made him " more likely than not" to reoffend

over the course of his life. RP 936, 949. 

Civil commitment requires proof "that ` the probability of the

defendant's reoffending exceeds 50 percent. "' In re Det. ofPost, 170

Wn.2d 302, 310, 241 P. 3d 1234 ( 2010) ( quoting In re Det. ofBrooks, 145

Wn.2d 275, 298, 736 P. 3d 1034 ( 2001) overruled on other grounds by In

re Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P. 3d 708 ( 2003)). 

Accordingly, Mr. Hancock asked the court to instruct jurors on the

state' s burden to prove a recidivism risk exceeding 50%. CP 163, 742- 

743; RP 34- 35. The government objected and the court refused to give

the instruction. RP 35- 38; CP 575- 576, 1074- 1098. 
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A court' s instructions to the jury must " do more than adequately

convey the law." State v. Watkins, 136 Wn. App. 240, 241, 148 P. 3d 1112

2006). They must make the applicable legal standards " manifestly clear

to the average juror." Id. 

Here, the court' s instructions did not make the applicable standard

manifestly clear." Id. An instruction that is " manifestly clear" would have

communicated the 50% standard. 

Instructions must be manifestly clear because jurors cannot rely on

the rules of interpretation familiar to lawyers and judges. State v. Harris, 

122 Wn. App. 547, 553- 554, 90 P. 3d 1133 ( 2004). Thus, " the standard for

clarity in jury instructions is higher than that for a statute." Id. In other

words, statutory language is not necessarily manifestly clear to the average

juror. Id. 

Even so, the Court of Appeals held that the court' s instruction was

proper because it used the statutory language, including telling the jury

that it had to find that Mr. Hancock " more probably than not" would

reoffend. Opinion, pp. 8- 9. 

But the statutory phrase " more probably than not" is not manifestly

clear. Indeed, the Supreme Court feels the need to use the phrase " 50

percent" to explain the phrase " more probably than not", rather than
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allowing it to speak for itself Post, 170 Wn.2d at 310; Brooks, 145

Wn.2d at 295. 

This court explicitly held in Brooks that a jury was required to find

that a person was more than 50% likely to reoffend precisely because that

numerical translation was not automatic in the minds of all rational

people. See Brooks, 145 Wn.2d at 293 ( addressing argument that the

preponderance of the evidence standard permitted commitment upon a

showing that a person had a 25% chance of re -offense). 

Indeed, the state suggested in its briefing before the trial court in

this case that " more probably than not" does not equate to a likelihood

greater than 50%. CP 575- 576. If the correlation has not always been

clear in the eyes of judges and lawyers, it is not manifestly apparent to the

average furor. 

By expressing the standard numerically, the Supreme Court

brought greater precisions to the state' s burden in Brooks. 9

7 The Court of Appeals notes that Brooks does not address jury instructions. Opinion, pp. 
8- 9. But Brooks clarifies and interprets the showing necessary for commitment under
RCW 71. 09 in order to comply with due process. Brooks, 145 Wn.2d at 295. Due
process permits Mr. Hancock' s commitment only if the jury finds beyond a reasonable
doubt that his risk of re -offense exceeds 50%. Id. But the jury was never made aware of
that requirement. 

a See State v. Harrington, 181 Wn. App. 805, 821, 333 P.3d 410, review denied, 337 P.3d
326 ( Wash. 2014) (" Words, not numbers, arc the material from which legislatures fabricate

statutes... But words arc funny things. We may use a word or phrase to convey one meaning
and the reader or listener may receive a different meaning. Or the reader may question the
meaning or not conceive any meaning.") 
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Jurors should not be required to guess at what is required for

commitment. See State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 263, 930 P.2d 917

1997) (" It cannot be said that a defendant has had a fair trial if the jury

must guess at the meaning of an essential element.") 

Furthermore, in cases involving an admitted history of sex

offenses, every effort should be taken to remove passion and prejudice

from the deliberative process, because in such cases, the potential for

prejudice is at its highest. See State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 269

P. 3d 207 ( 2012); State v. Gower, 179 Wn.2d 851, 857- 858, 321 P. 3d 1178

2014). 

The court' s instructions left the jury to guess whether the phrase

more probably than not" has exactly the same meaning as a probability

greater than 50%. Mr. Hancock' s proposed instruction would have made

the standard manifestly clear. CP 742. 10

A trial court' s failure to instruct on a party' s theory of the case is

reversible error where there is evidence supporting the theory. Barrett v. 

9 Furthermore, the 50% standard also aligns the statutory language with the land of expert
testimony presented in most RCW 71. 09 cases. When the jury hears conflicting expert
testimony centering on a 50% likelihood of re -offense, only an instruction referring to that
number qualifies as " manifestly clear." 

10 The proposed instruction used the word " likely" in place of the statutory term " probably." 
CP 742. This clerical error was not a factor in the trial judge' s decision, and should have no

impact on review. RP 35- 38. The issue is whether the trial judge should have made the 50% 

standard explicit for the jury. Any clerical error could have been corrected in the final
instruction packet. 
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Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 259, 266- 67, 96 P. 3d 386 ( 2004). 

Mr. Hancock' s theory was that his likelihood of engaging in predatory acts

of sexual violence was less than 50%. He presented evidence supporting

this theory. 

But the trial court refused to instruct the jury that it was required to

find that Mr. Hancock was more than 50% likely to reoffend. RP 32- 35. 

The court also precluded Mr. Hancock' s expert witness from testifying

regarding that legal standard. RP 35- 38; CP 101- 102, 576. 

Even so, the Court of Appeals held that Mr. Hancock was able to

argue his theory of the case. Opinion, p. 9. But the jury was told that all

of the relevant law for the case was contained in the court' s instructions

and that they should disregard any argument or comment that did not

comport with the law as provided in the instructions. RP 1076. Absent an

instruction from the court, the jury could have believed that the defense

attorney' s construction of the state' s burden was merely one possible

interpretation of the instructions, rather than the one interpretation

required by due process. 

The court erred by refusing to instruct the jury in a manner making

the relevant legal standard manifestly clear. Watkins, 136 Wn. App. at

241. This issue is of substantial public interest because it could affect
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every civil commitment case under RCW 71. 09. This court should grant

review. RAP 13. 4( b)( 4). 

B. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the trial court

erred by admitting the irrelevant, misleading, and prejudicial
bullseye" exhibit. This issue is of substantial public interest and

should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13. 4 ( b)( 4). 

Dr. Packard did not prepare Exhibit 44, the bullseye exhibit. He

could not provide any underlying numbers supporting the illustration. RP

783- 785. He acknowledged that the size of the critical outer circle was not

based on any research. RP 783, 785- 786. He admitted that the outer

circle was not proportionate, and that it would be impossible to make it

proportionate because it was based on an " unknown" number. RP 790. 

Dr. Packard also did not relate the exhibit to the issue of predatory

acts of sexual violence. RP 783- 790, 881. 

The trial judge should not have allowed the state to introduce the

irrelevant, misleading, and prejudicial bullseye exhibit. RP 790, 881. 

Evidence must be excluded if "its probative value is substantially

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." ER 403. Evidentiary error

requires reversal if there is a reasonable probability that it materially

affected the outcome of the trial. State v. BNiejer, 172 Wn. App. 209, 228, 

289 P. 3d 698 ( 2012). 
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Exhibit 44 should have been excluded. It was irrelevant and

unduly prejudicial. 

First, it did not accurately illustrate the underreporting problem

because it was not proportionate to the data. As Dr. Packard indicated, it

was " pretty much impossible to give a proportionate number." RP 790. 

Second, Dr. Packard did not relate the exhibit to underreporting of

predatory acts of sexual violence. There is no indication that predatory

acts of sexual violence are underreported in the U.S. 11

The trial court should not have admitted Ex. 44 for illustrative

purposes. It lacked probative value and created a grave risk of unfair

prejudice. It should have been excluded under ER 402 and ER 403. 

The error prejudiced Mr. Hancock. It leftjurors with the

inaccurate impression that he is far more likely to reoffend than predicted

by his actuarial score. The exhibit bolstered the state' s case on the primary

disputed element at trial. 

There is a reasonable probability that Exhibit 44 materially

affected the outcome of the trial. BNiejer, 172 Wn. App. at 228. Mr. 

Hancock' s commitment order must be reversed and the case remanded

with instructions to exclude Exhibit 44. Id. 

It is far morc likcly that scx crimc victims arc rcluctant to rcport fricnds and family
mcmbcrs, rathcr than prcdatory strangcrs. 
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VI. CONCLUSION

The issues in this case are of substantial public interest because

they could affect all civil commitment cases under RCW 71. 09. This

Court should grant review. RAP 13. 4( b)( 4).