RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Aug 26, 2016, 3:08 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93441-0

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of George Edward Hancock, Jr.:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

v.

GEORGE EDWARD HANCOCK, JR.,

Petitioner,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

BROOKE BURBANK Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 26680 / OID No. 91094 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3017

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

group data about offenders who had been convicted did not tell an accurate picture of risk because there are an unknown number of undetected offenses.

Hancock urged the court to instruct the jury that "the term 'more likely than not' as used in these instructions means that the probability of respondent's reoffending exceeds 50%." CP 473. The court declined and instructed the jury in accord with the statute, that "likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility" means "the person more probably than not will engage in such acts if released unconditionally from detention." CP at 1074-1098. This is in accord with the Washington Pattern Instructions. WPI 365.14.

In late February 2015, a unanimous jury determined that Hancock was a sexually violent predator. He appealed the commitment and the Court of Appeals affirmed the commitment. See Hancock, 2016 WL 3599162. The Court of Appeals rejected Hancock's suggested mathematic formula for instructing the jury, holding that the trial court "followed the language of RCW 71.09.060(1) and RCW 71.09.020(7) nearly verbatim. Therefore, the trial court's instruction accurately states the law." Hancock. 2016 WL 3599162, at *4. The court further ruled that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the State's expert to rely on an illustrative exhibit that Hancock disliked and that Hancock's argument goes towards the weight of the evidence, not the admissibility. *Id.* at *6.

IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Standard Of Review

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Hancock seeks review of the two issues only under RAP 13.4(b)(4), arguing that the issues are of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Petition at 9, 14. He is incorrect and review should be denied.

B. The Law Regarding Jury Instructions is Well-Settled and Does Not Merit Review by this Court

The petition fails to raise an issue of substantial public interest because this case involves a straightforward application of this Court's jurisprudence regarding failure to give proposed jury instructions. The standards for reviewing claims of failure to give a jury instruction are well-settled and are not challenged by Hancock. A trial court's refusal to give a proposed jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

In re Det. of Pouncy, 168 Wn.2d 382, 390, 229 P.3d 678 (2010). Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow parties to argue their case theories, do not mislead the jury and, when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied. Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431, 442, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000). When read as a whole, jury instructions must make the applicable legal standard "'manifestly apparent to the average juror' "State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 900, 913 P.2d 369 (1996) (quoting State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 595, 682 P.2d 312 (1984)).

C. The Trial Court Properly Instructed The Jury Using The Statutory Definition Of A Sexually Violent Predator

Hancock argues that the jury should have been instructed that it was the State's burden to prove that Mr. Hancock's risk exceeds 50 percent. Pet. at 1, 9. This misconstrues both the statutory elements and the case law analyzing the statute. The Court of Appeals properly rejected his argument and found that "the trial court properly informed the jury of the applicable law and standard." *Hancock*, 2016 WL 3599162, at *4. The State's burden in civil commitment cases pursuant to RCW 71.09 is to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the individual is "likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). The jury was not, as Hancock suggests, left to guess

what this term meant, because the court properly instructed the jury according to the statute, as well as the Washington Pattern Instructions:

The trial court instructed the jury that the State had the burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt, including whether Hancock was "'likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility.' "CP at 1082 (Jury Instruction No. 6). The trial court also instructed the jury that "'likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility,' " means that Hancock "more probably than not will engage in such acts if released unconditionally from detention in this proceeding." CP at 1085 (Jury Instruction No. 9). The trial court's instructions followed the language of RCW 71.09.060(1) and RCW 71.09.020(7) nearly verbatim. Therefore, the trial court's instruction accurately states the law.

Hancock, 2016 WL 3599162, at *4.

While Hancock argues that the statutory phrase is not "manifestly clear" (Pet. at 10), his assertion is false. The court gave the attorneys freedom to explain what the "likely" requirement meant. The trial court permitted the experts to testify that the risk should be over 50 percent and allowed the attorneys to argue the same in closing. RP at 36-37. The jury thus had a very clear definition upon which to base its decision and they were not left to guess at its meaning. Hancock offers nothing to show that this is an incorrect statement of the law, because it is not, nor how it precluded him from arguing his theory of the case.

Despite his claim to the contrary (Pet. at 13), the court specifically allowed Hancock to make the numeric argument. RP at 34-36. Indeed, his

expert was able to testify about statistical percentages exactly as Hancock wished. RP at 1089; 1119; 1129; 1139. The trial court ruled that the parties were "free to argue about what 'more probably true than not" means. 1 VRP at 34. Hancock presented evidence of his theory through his expert, Dr. Fisher. Dr. Fisher testified that "'[1]ikely means more likely than not or greater than 50 percent.' 8 VRP at 1089." *Hancock*, 2016 WL 3599162, at *5.

Hancock also asserts that the State argued below that "more probably than not" does not equate to a risk level greater than 50 percent and cites to CP 575-576 in support of this claim. Pet. at 7. The record does not support his contention. The cited reference is the State's response to Motions In Limine, and CP 575-76 is an analysis of *Brooks*. ⁴ The State was refuting Hancock's contention that the standard for determining risk in SVP cases requires a "*predicted recidivism rate* exceeding 50%." CP 575 (emphasis added). However, "predicted recidivism rates" are not the standard for commitment; likelihood of re-offense is the correct standard. The State was merely arguing that the actuarial results do not have to be over 50 percent to sustain a commitment. CP 575.

As he did below, Hancock now argues that the Supreme Court "held in *Brooks* that a jury was required to find that a person was more than 50% likely to reoffend." Pet. at 11. The Court of Appeals dispensed

⁴ In re Det. of Brooks, 145 Wn.2d 275, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001).

with Hancock's flawed argument. "The Brooks court, however, did not address jury instructions and it did not hold that the 'more probably than not' standard is unclear." Hancock, 2016 WL 3599162, at *4 (citing *Brooks*, 145 Wn.2d at 284). The Court of Appeals correctly noted that "Brooks rejected the argument that chapter 71.09 RCW violated his due process and equal protection rights" and nowhere does the opinion "require the trial court to instruct the jury that 'more probably than not' means that the likelihood of Hancock engaging in predatory acts of sexual 50 See WPI 365.14." violence exceeds percent. Hancock, 2016 WL 3599162, at *5 (citing *Brooks*, 145 Wn.2d at 296–98).

The Court of Appeals ruled that the instructions accurately reflected the law and allowed Hancock to argue his theory of the case. *Hancock*, 2016 WL 3599162, at *5. The jury was properly instructed as to the legal requirements of the statute. Hancock has failed to show any basis for this Court's review.

D. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Allowed The State To Use An Illustrative Exhibit During Expert Testimony To Explain Why The Actuarial Assessment Is An Underestimate Of An Individual's Risk

Hancock argues that it is a matter of substantial public interest whether the trial court admitted irrelevant and prejudicial evidence. Pet. at 14. Hancock's claim ignores the offer of proof the State provided before the trial

court ruled that the illustrative exhibit could be used, ignores the testimony explaining the exhibit, and ignores that the law regarding admission of illustrative exhibits is well-settled and not in controversy here. This Court should deny review because the trial court's proper and fact-bound use of discretion in allowing the State to use an illustrative exhibit to explain the expert's opinion is not an issue of substantial public interest.

The use of demonstrative or illustrative evidence is to be favored and the trial court is given wide latitude in determining whether or not to admit illustrative evidence. State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 855, 822 P.2d 177 (1991). Ordinarily, only minimal foundation is required for a purely illustrative exhibit. Reitz v. Knight, 62 Wn. App. 575, 585, n. 6, 814 P.2d 1212 (1991). Expert opinion may be given even where the underlying factual material would otherwise be inadmissible. ER 703; see Group Health Coop. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Department of Rev., 106 Wn.2d 391, 400, 722 P.2d 787 (1986). Use of charts is generally permitted at the court's discretion to illustrate expert testimony. State Dep't of Fisheries v. Gillette, 27 Wn. App. 815, 826, 621 P.2d 764 (1980). The trial court's discretion with respect to evidentiary matters is broad, and a decision of the trial court is reversed only if the court abuses its discretion. Discretion is abused if it is based on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. Day v. Santorsola, 118 Wn. App. 746, 76 P.3d 1190

(2003). ER 703 provides that if "facts or data ... upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference ... [are] of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence." *Det. of Marshall v. State*, 156 Wn.2d 150, 161, 125 P.3d 111, 116 (2005).

The trial court held a pre-trial hearing regarding the use of the exhibit, and subsequently ruled that it could be admitted for illustrative purposes. RP at 782-90. The exhibit was briefly shown to the jury during the expert's testimony, and was used to help explain the limitations on the actuarial risk assessment instruments. RP at 882-84. Furthermore, Dr. Packard explained the concept carefully to the court, and subsequently to the jury, making sure they knew that the concentric circles were a "concept" and not actual numbers. RP at 883. Dr. Packard was cross-examined at length about his reliance on the actuarials (RP at 993-1012) and it was not an abuse of discretion to allow him to use an illustrative exhibit to explain why he determined that the actuarial risk assessment was not an accurate reflection of Hancock's true risk.

Furthermore, the exhibit did not go back into the jury room and the jury was instructed about its limited purpose ("This exhibit is itself not an exhibit; rather, it's one party's illustration offered to assist you in explaining and evaluating the evidence in the case"). RP at 739-40.

Thirty-four admitted exhibits went back to the jury room (RP at 1423), but illustrative exhibit 44 did not.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting exhibit 44 for illustrative purposes. It "was related to, and used to illustrate, Dr. Packard's testimony about the limitations of the risk assessment tools." Hancock, 2016 WL 3599162, at *6. Dr. Packard clarified that the question under RCW 71.09 is not limited to a specific time frame, but that he is looking at the risk for re-offense over the rest of Hancock's lifetime. RP at 863-864; 882. Because the jury was tasked with determining if Hancock was likely to offend (as opposed to whether he was to be charged or convicted of an offense), it was important for the jury to be aware of their limitations. Actuarials measure only charges and convictions. RP at 788. They are considered to underestimate risk. RP at 788. It is widely known that sex offenses are under-reported and a larger group of sex offenses that are committed but not reported. RP at 788. Dr. Packard explained that the actuarial instruments were not designed to answer the specific question about likelihood of re-offense. RP at 844. The instruments look only at detected offenses that occur within a limited time period. RP at 847. He explained that this is a significant limitation on the risk assessment, because a person can engage in the behavior, not be detected, and that person will count in the research data as a non-recidivist. RP at 847. The exhibit was "intended to

reflect the concept that there is underreporting." *Hancock*, 2016 WL 3599162 at *6. The Court of Appeals found Hancock's argument that the jury would believe the exhibit was proportionate to actual crime numbers to be unfounded: "Furthermore, the record contains no indication that either the State or Dr. Packard represented that exhibit 44 was proportionate to the known data." *Id.* The trial court's decision to allow the illustrative exhibit was not based on untenable reasons; it was directly related to a visual illustration of the expert's testimony.

Hancock was able to admit significant testimony through his expert countering the State's reliance on the actuarials. RP at 1127-77. Hancock's expert, Dr. Chris Fischer, acknowledged that it is hard to measure data about sexual assaults and under-reporting. RP at 1267. He acknowledged that Dr. Karl Hanson, the developer of the Static-99, states clearly that the actuarial results are underestimates because not all offenses are detected. RP at 1268. Dr. Fischer admitted "not all offenses are reported. Everyone acknowledges that." RP at 1268. Hancock's attorney also agreed with the facts contained in the illustrative exhibit, that is, that sex offenses are underreported and that both experts would testify as such. RP at 674.

The Court of Appeals also properly rejected Hancock's argument that the exhibit should have been excluded because Dr. Packard did not relate it to the underreporting of predatory acts of sexual violence (Pet. at 15) because he failed to raise that claim below. Hancock, 2016 WL 3599162, at *7 (citing RAP 2.5; State v. Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 82, 206 P.3d 321 (2009) (holding that an appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision to admit evidence where the defendant argues for reversal based on an evidentiary rule not raised at trial)). Because he did not raise it below, this Court should also deny review on those grounds.

Hancock's concern that the exhibit "prejudiced" him is unsupported by facts, and is not the proper question. The correct test is whether its "probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." ER 403. It was not, because the exhibit assisted the expert in explaining his risk assessment, and was subject to cross-examination about all the weaknesses in the numbers. Hancock further asserts that there is a reasonable probability that this exhibit materially affected the outcome of the trial. Pet at 15. He offers nothing more than this assertion because there is no evidence to support this claim. Hancock's trial lasted for over two weeks, with two experts and multiple victims testifying. The jury heard in detail about Hancock's lifelong sexual deviancy, his sexual attraction to children, and the numerous young

⁵ "At trial, Hancock only argued that the trial court should exclude exhibit 44 because it was not to scale as to generally 'unreported sex offenses, arrested ones, charged ones, [and] convicted ones,' not specifically as to 'predatory acts of sexual violence.' *Compare* 5 VRP at 673–74, *with* Br. of Appellant at 32." *Hancock*, 2016 WL 3599162, at *7.

children he had molested and raped. They also heard testimony about the significantly smaller number of charges and convictions he received. This exhibit represented the uncontested fact that more sexual offenses take place than are charged or convicted. The testimony involving the exhibit was brief – 2 pages out of a 1,500 page transcript. Rather than "bolster" the State's case, the exhibit explained the expert's opinion that the actuarial instruments were not an accurate assessment of Hancock's risk. The trial court had wide latitude in allowing the exhibit to be used, and did not abuse its discretion. This Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

Hancock has not demonstrated that this case merits review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). This case involves issues of well-settled evidentiary and instructional law, does not conflict with any decisions of this Court or any other appellate court, and does not present an issue of substantial public interest. For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny review.